
CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   03/28/19 

 
 

- 1 - 

 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01648 
CASE NAME: BROWN VS. JOSHUA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO CONSOLIDATE WITH C18-01750 
FILED BY VALDENA BROWN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. 

 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01648 
CASE NAME: BROWN VS. JOSHUA 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01013 
CASE NAME: GABLE VS. IVY HILL ASSOCIATES 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR PAYMENT OF ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS FROM BOND 
FILED BY IVY HILL ASSOCIATES, LP., et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted.  The amount of attorneys’ fees incurred by the Partnership and General Partner in 
connection with the derivative claims greatly exceeds the Bond obligation amount of $50,000. 

 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01404 
CASE NAME: OUBRE VS. PACIFIC BELL 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY PACIFIC BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is Defendant Pacific Bell Telephone Company (“Defendant” or “Pacific Bell”) 
motion for summary judgment, or in the alternative, summary adjudication (“MSJ”). The MSJ 
relates to the Complaint filed by Soloan Oubre (“Plaintiff” or “Oubre”). 

Pacific Bell moves for summary judgment or in the alternative summary adjudication to Plaintiff’s 
sole remaining causes of action for (2) discrimination in violation of Gov’t Code § 12940(a); (3) 
failure to take all reasonable steps necessary to prevent racial harassment (Gov’t Code 
§ 12940(k)); (4) retaliation in violation of Gov’t Code § 12940(h); and (9) unfair business 
practices in violation of California Business and Professions Code §§ 17200-17208. Defendant 
also moves for summary adjudication on its affirmative defenses of equitable estoppel and 
waiver, and Plaintiff’s request for punitive damages. 
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The MSJ came on previously for hearing on February 21, 2019. The Court ordered the Plaintiff 
to submit an amended separate statement in Opposition to Pacific Bell’s separate statement 
that specifically identifies the evidence that supports her position that a fact is disputed. The 
Court further ordered that Plaintiff file and serve a memorandum of points and authorities in 
opposition to Pacific Bell’s motion. As best the Court is able to discern, Plaintiff served 
Defendant with an amended opposition and amended separate statement on March 19, 2019 
and filed the same with the Court two days later on March 21, 2019. Plaintiff has made some 
effort to comply with the Court’s request, although the absence of effective citation hampers the 
Court’s ability to identify the precise evidence on which Plaintiff relies. 

For the following reasons, Pacific Bell’s motion for summary judgment is granted. Because the 
court grants the motion as to all remaining causes of action, it need not reach the alternative 
request for summary adjudication on Defendant’s affirmative defenses of equitable estoppel and 
waiver, and Plaintiff’s request for punitive damages. 

Standard 

Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) §§ 437c(o)(1) and 437c(p)(2) provide the relevant legal 
standard for deciding the MSJ. Section 437c(o)(1) provides, in relevant part: 

A cause of action has no merit if one or more of the elements of the cause of action 
cannot be separately established, even if that element is separately pleaded. 

Section 437c(p)(2) provides, in relevant part: 

A defendant or cross-defendant has met his or her burden of showing that a cause of 
action has no merit if that party has shown that one or more elements of the cause of 
action, even if not separately pleaded, cannot be established, or that there is a complete 
defense to that cause of action. Once the defendant or cross-defendant has met that 
burden, the burden shifts to the plaintiff or cross-complainant to show that a triable issue 
of one or more material facts exists as to the cause of action or a defense thereto. The 
plaintiff or cross-complainant shall not rely upon the mere allegations or denials of its 
pleadings to show that a triable issue of material fact exists but, instead, shall set forth 
the specific facts showing that a triable issue of material fact exists as to that cause of 
action or a defense thereto.  

Section 437c(d) provides that “[s]upporting and opposing affidavits or declarations shall be 
made by a person on personal knowledge, shall set forth admissible evidence, and shall show 
affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated in the affidavits or 
declarations.” 

The party moving for summary judgment has the burden of persuasion to show there is no 
triable issue of material fact and thus it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Aguilar v. 
Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 850. Only if the moving party successfully meets 
this burden does the burden shift to the opposing party to make its own prima facie showing of 
the existence of a triable issue of material fact. Ibid.; see also Chern v. Bank of America (1976) 
15 Cal.3d 866, 873. In opposing the motion, the defendant may not simply rely upon allegations 
or denials of the pleadings; the defendant must set forth specific facts showing that a triable 
issue of material fact exists. CCP § 437c(p)(1). 

The Court must determine whether the defendant has by affidavit presented any facts that give 
rise to a triable issue. Stationers Corp. v. Dun & Bradstreet, Inc. (1965) 62 Cal.2d 412, 417. 
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The Court does not resolve conflicting factual allegations, for the purpose of the procedure is to 
discover whether the parties have evidence requiring assessment at a trial. Such summary 
procedure is drastic and should be used with caution so that it does not become a substitute for 
trial. Towne Development Co. v. Lee (1965) 63 Cal.2d 147, 148; Stationers Corp. v. Dun & 
Bradstreet, Inc., supra.  

The moving party’s affidavits are strictly construed by the trial court, and the opponent’s 
affidavits are liberally construed; doubts about the propriety of granting the motion are resolved 
by denying summary judgment, due to the drastic nature of the procedure. Ibid.  

The Court also notes “the Golden Rule of Summary Adjudication: if it is not set forth in the 
separate statement, it does not exist.” North Coast Business Park v. Nielsen Construction Co. 
(1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 22, 31 (citing United Church v. Garcin (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 327, 337) 
(italics in original). A party opposing summary judgment must identify pertinent issues and 
evidence in its separate statement of facts. As North Coast stated, “it is no answer to say the 
facts set out in the supporting evidence or memoranda of points and authorities are sufficient. 
Such an argument does not aid the trial court at all since it then has to cull through often 
discursive argument to determine what is admitted, what is contested, and where the evidence 
on each side of the issue is located.” Id. at 30 (internal quotations and citations omitted), quoting 
Garcin, supra, 231 Cal.App.3d at 335. 

Plaintiff’s response to Defendant’s motion for summary judgment is bereft of citation to specific 
evidence, notwithstanding the fact that she included with her opposition over a thousand pages 
of exhibits (none of which are tabbed). Plaintiff also poorly complied with the Court’s prior order 
to submit an amended separate statement that specifically identifies the evidence that supports 
her position that a fact is disputed. As a consequence, it is unclear what the factual bases for 
any of Plaintiff’s disputed facts are. 

Factual and Procedural History 

Plaintiff worked as a Maintenance Administrator in Pacific Bell’s dispatch center where she 
responded to customer calls regarding technical issues that needed support and then worked 
with the field technicians to ensure that the technicians met their commitments to customers. 
UMF 12. On or about July 1, 2009, Plaintiff claims she injured herself at work. UMF 15. 
Following that injury, Plaintiff reported off work on July 2, 2009. There appears to be some 
dispute retarding the exact dates Plaintiff was off work, but it is undisputed that she returned to 
work from October 26, 2009 to approximately February 22, 2010. UMF 18. In February, Plaintiff 
went on a continuous leave of absence again and was out of work from February 22, 2010 
through October 5, 2010. UMF 19, 20. Pacific Bell provided Plaintiff with a further leave of 
absence from October 6, 2010 until she returned to work on January 26, 2011. UMF 21. Plaintiff 
again went out of work in July 2011 and was out of work from July 14, 2011 through July 20, 
2011. UMF 22, 23. 

It is undisputed that Plaintiff received a leave of absence from Pacific Bell, referred to as a 
Following Maximum Disability (“FMD”) Leave from July 21, 2011 to July 19, 2012. UMF 25. She 
returned to work on the last day of that leave on July 19, 2012 (UMF 26), but approximately 
three months later was injured outside of work. UMF 27. There is some dispute surrounding the 
LTD benefits Plaintiff received both before and after her FMD leave. See DMF 24, 28. 

Plaintiff does not appear to dispute Pacific Bell’s material fact number 29: Plaintiff was 
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terminated from Pacific Bell effective October 30, 2012 because she applied for and resumed 
receipt of LTD benefits in connection with a relapse of her LTD claim, which, consistent with the 
Plan, and as explained to Plaintiff, resulted in the separation of her employment because she 
had already received 12 months of FMD Leave (the maximum duration) in connection with her 
prior exhaustion of STD benefits, and thus was not eligible for another FMD Leave in connection 
with the relapse of her LTD claim. UMF 29. 

Plaintiff filed a Complaint on July 21, 2016. The Complaint alleged causes of action for (1) 
wrongful termination; (2) violation of Cal. Gov. Code § 12940(A); (3) violation of Cal. Gov. Code 
§ 12940(K); (4) violation of Cal. Gov. Code § 12940(H); (5) breach of implied contract of 
continued employment; (6) breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (7) 
intentional infliction of emotional distress; (8) negligent infliction of emotional distress; and (9) 
violation of Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 - § 17208. Causes of action one through five are pled 
against Pacific Bell and causes of action six through nine are pled against both Pacific Bell and 
Defendant Local 9400 Communication Workers of America Building Corporation (“Local 9400”). 

Plaintiff served Pacific Bell with the Complaint on November 4, 2016 by personal service. 
Plaintiff attempted to serve, but did not serve Local 9400. Pacific Bell filed a Demurrer to the 
Complaint on December 5, 2016. Pacific Bell demurred to Plaintiff’s causes of action for 
wrongful termination, intentional infliction of emotional distress, negligent infliction of emotional 
distress, breach of implied contract of continued employment, and breach of implied covenant of 
good faith and fair dealing on the grounds that all were barred by the statute of limitations. 

Plaintiff did not file an Opposition to Pacific Bell’s demurrer. The Court held a Case 
Management Conference on January 3, 2017 at which Plaintiff appeared. Per the tentative 
ruling issued on January 11, 2017, the parties were ordered to appear at the hearing on the 
Demurrer on January 12, 2017. Counsel for Pacific Bell was present; Ms. Oubre was not. The 
Court sustained the Demurrer without leave to amend. On January 20, 2017, Pacific Bell filed an 
answer to the remaining causes of action for violation of Cal. Gov. Code §§ 12940(a), (k), and 
(h), and violation of Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 - § 17208. 

Analysis 

Discrimination in Violation of Gov’t Code § 12940(a) 

The FEHA makes it an unlawful employment practice to discriminate against any person on the 
basis of race. Gov. Code § 12940(a). Specifically, § 12940(a) provides that it is an unlawful 
employment practice for an employer, “because of the race … of any person, to … discriminate 
against the person in compensation or in terms, conditions, or privileges of employment.” 
Particular burden-shifting rules apply to proof of a discrimination claim under this section, which 
“reflects the principle that direct evidence of intentional discrimination is rare, and that such 
claims must usually be proved circumstantially.” Guz v. Bechtel National, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 
317, 354. 

Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s race discrimination claim is barred at the outset for her failure 
to exhaust administrative remedies as to any race discrimination claim. Plaintiff’s argument 
appears to be that because an unauthenticated and unspecified intake questionnaire mentions 
her race, that is sufficient with respect to her claim for discrimination based on race. See DMF 3.  

“The failure to exhaust an administrative remedy is a jurisdictional, not a procedural, defect.” 
Miller v. United Airlines, Inc. (1985) 174 Cal. App. 3d 878, 890; Martin v. Lockheed Missiles & 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   03/28/19 

 
 

- 5 - 

Space Co. (1994) 29 Cal.App.4th 1718, 1724; Okoli v. Lockheed Technical Operations Co. 
(1995) 36 Cal.App.4th 1607, 1613. In Miller, the Sixth Appellate District concluded that the lack 
of exhaustion was a proper ground for a summary judgment motion. Miller, supra, 174 Cal. App. 
3d at 890. Martin likewise upheld a summary judgment on this basis. Martin, supra, 29 
Cal.App.4th at 1729–1730. Okoli overturned a jury verdict on the basis that the employee's 
successful FEHA claim of retaliation was not encompassed in the discrimination complaint that 
he had filed with the DFEH. Okoli, supra, 36 Cal.App.4th at 1614–1617. Exhaustion is a 
“precondition to bringing suit” on an employee’s FEHA claims. Rojo v. Kliger (1990) 52 Cal.3d 
65, 72. 

Plaintiff’s Charge form checks only “retaliation” and “disability.” See Oubre Depo Tr. 34:22-36:3, 
Ex.1. The box for “race” is not checked. Id. As a consequence, Plaintiff’s claim for racial 
discrimination is not encompassed by the Charge of Discrimination form that she submitted to 
the EEOC. Lack of exhaustion is fatal to her claim for discrimination in violation of § 12940(a). 

Failure to Prevent Racial Harassment (Gov’t Code § 12940(k)) (Third Cause of Action) 

Defendant’s primary opposition to Plaintiff’s failure to prevent claim is its contention that there 
was no discrimination or harassment, and as a consequence the failure to prevent claim fails. 
Trujillo v. North County Transit Dist. (1998) 63 Cal.App.4th 280, 289 (there can be no violation 
of § 12940(k) where there has been no discrimination). Defendant also argues that Plaintiff’s 
claim for failure to prevent discrimination fails as a matter of law because Pacific Bell had anti-
discrimination and anti-harassment policies in place.  

Private plaintiffs may assert a cause of action under subsection (k) of Government Code section 
12940 only where the claim is supported by factual findings of actual unlawful harassment or 
discrimination. Trujillo, supra, 63 Cal.App.4th at 288-89. Otherwise there is no private cause of 
action for an independent (k) violation. See DFEH v. Lyddan Law Group (Williams) (prosecution 
of an independent (k) violation is the exclusive province of the DFEH). 

California Jury Instructions Nos. 2521a describes the essential factual elements that Plaintiff 
must have to state a claim for racial harassment under FEHA directed at Pacific Bell: (1) that 
Plaintiff was an employee with Pacific Bell; (2) that she was subjected to unwanted harassing 
conduct because of her race; (3) that the harassing conduct was severe or pervasive; (4) that a 
reasonable woman in Plaintiff’s circumstances would have considered the work environment to 
be hostile or abusive; (5) that Plaintiff considered the work environment to be hostile or abusive; 
(6) that a supervisor engaged in the conduct; (7) that Plaintiff was harmed; and (8) that the 
conduct was a substantial factor in causing Plaintiff’s harm. 

Harassment “focuses on situations in which the social environment of the workplace becomes 
intolerable because the harassment (whether verbal, physical, or visual) communicates an 
offensive message to the harassed employee.” Roby v. McKesson Corp. (2009) 47 Cal.4th 686 
706. To be harassing, actions must be sufficiently severe or pervasive. Determining this 
depends upon “the frequency of the discriminatory conduct; its severity; whether it is physically 
threatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; and whether it unreasonably interferes 
with an employee’s work performance.” Serri v. Santa Clara University (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 
830, 869-870 (internal citations omitted).  

As best as the Court is able to discern, Plaintiff’s underlying allegation of harassment is that her 
manager Marie Grace told employees about Plaintiff’s personal and disability issues. Complaint 
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at ¶ 11. Plaintiff has not provided any admissible evidence of severe or pervasive actions. In the 
absence of evidence of a concerted pattern of harassment, Plaintiff cannot state a claim for 
failure to prevent harassment. See Dickson v. Burke Williams, Inc. (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 
1307, 1318 (no claim for failure to prevent discrimination under § 12940(k) where no actionable 
discrimination). 

Retaliation in Violation of Gov’t Code § 12940(h) 

To establish a prima facie case of retaliation, a plaintiff must show that he or she engaged in a 
protected activity, that he or she was thereafter subjected to an adverse employment action by 
his or her employer, and that there was a causal link between the two. Morgan v. Regents of 
University of California (2000) 88 Cal.App.4th 52, 69. 

The only protected activity alleged in the complaint and supported by admissible evidence is 
Plaintiff’s filing of her EEOC charge, which followed her termination from Pacific Bell. Because 
Plaintiff’s termination proceeded her EEOC charge, it cannot form the basis of a retaliation 
claim. Plaintiff has not provided admissible evidence of any other protected activity.  

Unfair Business Practices in Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200-17208 

It is a violation of California's Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”) to engage in any “unlawful, unfair, 
or fraudulent business act or practice.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. “By proscribing ‘any 
unlawful’ business practice, section 17200 'borrows' violations of other laws and treats them as 
unlawful practices that the unfair competition law makes independently actionable.” Cel–Tech 
Commc'ns, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Tel. Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 163, 180 (internal quotations 
and citations omitted).  

Here, Plaintiff’s 17200 claim is premised entirely on her claims for violations of Government 
Code section 12940 (a), (k), and (h). Because those claims fail for the reasons described 
further, above, she lacks the predicate statutory violation required for a claim under section 
17200.  

Evidentiary Objections 

The Court need only rule on those objections to evidence that it deems material to its disposition 
of the motion. Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(q). 

Defendant Pacific Bell makes ninety four evidentiary objections to Plaintiff’s Response Separate 
Statement of Material Undisputed Facts. The extrinsic evidence upon which Plaintiff relies is 
inadmissible for failure to authenticate; all of Defendants objections to Plaintiff’s “Attachments” 
are sustained. All Attachments are unauthenticated. Evid. Code §§ 1400, 1401. However, 
Plaintiff’s testimony in her Amended Separate Statement meets the statutory requirements of 
Code of Civil Procedure § 2015.5 and is based on her personal knowledge. All non-hearsay 
objections to this testimony are overruled. 

 

  



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   03/28/19 

 
 

- 7 - 

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02204 
CASE NAME: REPUBLIC VS. GONZALEZ 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY GONZALEZ, INC., JUAN B. GONZALEZ 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This motion is being continued to June 27, 2019, so that it can be heard in conjunction with the 
motion for summary judgment/summary adjudication filed by New America Group, Inc. 

 

 

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00263 
CASE NAME: STANDEFER VS. KAPSACK 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00263 
CASE NAME: STANDEFER VS. KAPSACK 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY BRUCE KAPSACK 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00933 
CASE NAME: WELLS FARGO BANK VS. BUICH 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to 4/11/19 @ 9:00 a.m. in Dept. 33 per stipulation. 
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 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00933 
CASE NAME: WELLS FARGO BANK VS. BUICH 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to 4/11/19 @ 9:00 a.m. in Dept. 33 per stipulation. 
 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00984 
CASE NAME: BRIGGS VS. GUTIERREZ 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF DISMISSAL 
FILED BY BONNIE BRIGGS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear.  No proof of service on Defendant CSAA Insurance Exchange. 

 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01750 
CASE NAME: BROWN VS. JOSHUA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO CONSOLIDATE (FILED IN IN C15-01648) 
FILED BY SIRRECK BROWN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Please see Lines 1 and 2. 

 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02023 
CASE NAME: SMITH VS. WELLS FARGO 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION & STAY LITIGATION 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The Court rules as follows on the motion to compel arbitration, brought by defendant 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.  Plaintiff Sally T. Smith opposes the motion. 
 
 Defendant’s motion is granted.  This action is stayed, pending the outcome of 
the arbitration. 
 
 Defendant is directed to tab its exhibits in all future filings.  (See, Cal. Rules of Court, 
rule 3.1110, subd. (f).)  None of the exhibits to the opening Declaration of Chere’ Tait, or the 
reply declaration of Dominica Acosta, were tabbed. 
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 A. Contract Formation. 
 
 The issue of whether the parties entered into an enforceable arbitration agreement is 
an issue that the trial court must always decide.  (9 USCS § 4 [if there is a dispute over the 
existence of an arbitration agreement “the court shall proceed summarily to the trial thereof”]; 
Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.2 [the court shall order arbitration “if it determines that an agreement to 
arbitrate the controversy exists”].  See, Rosenthal v. Great Western Fin. Securities Corp. (1996) 
14 Cal.4th 394, 416 [fraud in the execution must be decided by the trial court]; Esparza v. Sand 
& Sea, Inc. (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 781, 787 [“[t]here is a strong public policy favoring contractual 
arbitration, but that policy does not extend to parties who have not agreed to arbitrate”]; Ruiz v. 
Moss Bros. Auto Group, Inc. (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 836, 841-846 [arbitration denied based on 
weakness of evidence that agreement was electronically signed].) 
 
 Accordingly, the Court will consider both of plaintiff’s arguments that the arbitration 
agreement in the case at bar is not enforceable. 
 
 B. The Badie Decision. 
 
 Plaintiff cites the Badie decision for the proposition that the July 11, 2018 
“Deposit Account Agreement” is not binding on her.  (See, Badie v. Bank of America 
(1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 779, 787-807.)  The Court finds that this decision is distinguishable, 
on two grounds. 
 
 First, the Badie holding concerning the scope of a change of terms provision does not 
apply when the original agreement contains an arbitration clause.  (See, Mission Viejo 
Emergency Medical Associates v. Beta Healthcare Group (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 1146, 1156.)  
As defendant’s reply declaration makes clear, the original agreement between plaintiff and 
defendant contained an arbitration clause. 
 
 Second, the Badie holding concerning the language of the arbitration clause was based 
on a finding that there was no “unambiguous and unequivocal waiver” of the right to a jury trial in 
the subject mailer.  (Badie, supra, 67 Cal.App.4th at 805-806.)  In the case at bar, plaintiff 
received a comprehensive new account agreement in July 2018, and the arbitration clause 
within that agreement was unambiguous and unequivocal. 
 
 C. Public Injunctive Relief. 
 
 Plaintiff argues that, by its own terms, the arbitration agreement is completely 
unenforceable because it contains an improper waiver of plaintiff’s claim for public injunctive 
relief.  (See, McGill v. Citibank, N.A. (2017) 2 Cal.5th 945, 961.)  Plaintiff relies on the following 
language within the subject arbitration clause: 
 

If any provision related to a class action, class arbitration, private attorney general 
action, other representative action, joinder, or consolidation is found to be illegal 
or unenforceable, the entire Arbitration Agreement will be unenforceable. 
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 The problem with plaintiff’s argument is that plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint 
does not state a claim for public injunctive relief.  Such relief must be sought on behalf of 
the general public, and not on behalf of  “a group of individuals similarly situated to the 
plaintiff …”  (McGill, supra, 2 Cal.5th at 955.  See also, McGovern v. United States Bank N.A. 
(S.D.Cal. Jan. 25, 2019) 2019 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 12595, at *15; Croucier v. Credit One Bank, N.A. 
(S.D.Cal. June 11, 2018) 2018 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 97756, at *8-16; Wright v. Sirius XM Radio Inc. 
(C.D.Cal. June 1, 2017) 2017 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 221407, at *24-27.) 
 
 In the case at bar, plaintiff’s complaint is ambiguous concerning whether plaintiff seeks 
injunctive relief on behalf of anyone other than herself.  Construing this ambiguity in plaintiff’s 
favor, plaintiff at best seeks injunctive relief on behalf of those similarly situated to herself: 
those of defendant’s California deposit account customers who may face garnishment based on 
an out-of-state judgment that has not been domesticated.  Such relief could only be granted in 
a class action lawsuit, and plaintiff has made no attempt to comply with class action procedures.  
(See, Bus & Prof Code, § 17203 [“[a]ny person may pursue representative claims or relief on 
behalf of others only if the claimant … complies with Section 382 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure”].  See also, Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.760 et seq. [rules governing class 
action lawsuits].) 

 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02023 
CASE NAME: SMITH VS. WELLS FARGO 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Case Management Conference is dropped from calendar as moot, in light of the Court’s 
ruling on defendant’s motion to compel arbitration. 

 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02264 
CASE NAME: MACKIE VS GOLDMAN 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS 
FILED BY BRIAN GOLDMAN M.D. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Judge Austin recuses himself.  Case is assigned for all purposes to Judge Jill Fannin in 
Dept. 21.  Motion continued to 5/15/19 in Dept. 21 at 9:00 AM. 
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15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02543 
CASE NAME: DE LEON VS. CENTRAL EAST BAY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE 
FILED BY CENTRAL EAST BAY IPA MEDICAL GROUP, INC., et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
The demurrer to the concealment claim is sustained with leave to amend, and the demurrers 
are otherwise overruled.  The motion to strike is granted with leave to amend as to 
paragraphs 18, 48, and 49, and otherwise denied.  Any amended pleading shall be filed on or 
before April 12, 2019. 
 

I. Background 
 
The background facts are taken from the complaint, the well-pled facts of which the Court 
accepts as true for purposes of demurrer. 
 
Plaintiffs are all medical doctors.  Each of them owns one share of Defendant Central East Bay 
IPA Medical Group, Inc. d/b/a Muir Medical Group IPA, through either: 1) a Common Stock 
Subscription Agreement; or 2) a Preferred Stock Shareholder Agreement, which also included a 
Preferred Stock Subscription Agreement (generally, the “agreements”).   (Defendants contend 
there is a third “Limited Purchase” agreement.)    
 
An “IPA” is an independent practice association, a form of “risk-bearing organization” under 
California law.  (See Health & Safety Code § 1375.4, subd. (g).)   Doctors form IPAs for several 
purposes.  First, an IPA collectively negotiates and manages its doctors’ contracts with, for 
example, HMOs.  This allows the IPA member doctors to maintain their independence and 
compete in the medical services marketplace.  An IPA also provides administrative services for 
doctors, such as records collection, billing, and reconciling of insurance payments.  Structured 
to permit pass-through compensation and dividend payments, an IPA also allows its member 
doctors to avoid additional or duplicative taxes.    
 
IPAs are funded from withholdings from their members’ medical practice earnings.  California 
law also requires IPAs to maintain certain assets on hand to cover potential claims.  The details 
of this law are not particularly relevant, other than to note that the laws requires a cash-to-claims 
ratio of at least .75, which the Court understands to mean that the account should be funded 
enough to pay for 3/4 of unpaid claims.  (See Cal. Code. Regs., tit. 28, § 1300.75.4.)   
 
Muir IPA shareholders unanimously agreed to create such an account (the “Capital Account”) 
in 2001.  Earnings withholdings required to fund it were modest.  At its inception, the Capital 
Account held $700,000.   
 

a. Self-Dealing of Muir IPA Directors 
 
Defendants are the Muir IPA and its individual directors.  Plaintiffs allege that beginning at the 
time these directors took over, the Capital Account ballooned in value from $5,000,000 to 
$25,000,000.  These was not attributable to new HMO contracts or investment performance, nor 
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was it required to keep the .75 cash-to-claims ratio.  Rather, defendants simply withheld greater 
shares of members’ earnings, money that otherwise could have been paid to plaintiffs and other 
Muir IPA shareholders.  Defendants then paid out $8,000,000 for expenses including: “stipends” 
and expense reimbursements paid to the individual defendants; payments toward their 
individual investments; and payments to their relatives to manage the Capital Account.  All of 
this was done without proper notice to Muir IPA Shareholders.  
 

b. Termination of John Muir Contract and Divestiture of Plaintiffs’ Muir IPA Shares 
 
Plaintiffs also allege malfeasance related to the ultimate termination of a contract Muir IPA had 
with the John Muir Health Network and related entities. The contract, in existence since before 
2007, allowed Muir IPA members to provide medical services to individuals in the John Muir 
network.  It was the Muir IPA’s only contract and the source of nearly all its revenue.  
 
In the summer of 2017, John Muir and the Muir IPA conducted discussions for a new 
professional services agreement between them.  John Muir had become concerned about lack 
of transparency and poor management of the Muir IPA.  Because its concerns were not 
satisfied, John Muir gave the Muir IPA 90 days to provide assurances in order for John Muir to 
feel comfortable executing a new professional services agreement, or else it would not renew.  
Defendants did not disclose this 90-day period to the Muir IPA shareholders. 
 
On September 5, 2017, John Muir wrote an email to the Muir IPA shareholders informing them 
that the parties could not reach agreement, and that it believed that direct contracts with the 
physicians themselves would provide better care.  On the same day, the Muir IPA’s board of 
directors emailed the shareholders stating that the John Muir email was misleading. 
 
On September 17, 2017, defendant Steven Kaplan – president and chairman of the Muir IPA – 
informed shareholders that the Muir IPA had signed a letter of intent to affiliate with another 
entity, Hill Physicians Medical Group IPA, Inc.  Documents related to this agreement were not 
provided to shareholders.  Shareholders were not told that the Hill agreement gave Hill unilateral 
termination rights after six months.  Nor were Muir IPA shareholders told that they must become 
exclusive providers to Hill.   
 
Further, neither in the September 17, 2017 letter, nor in prior “town hall” meetings, did 
defendants disclose that shareholders might be required to divest their shares in Muir IPA if they 
did not elect to join Hill, nor did defendants disclose any intent to shut down the Muir IPA.  But in 
an October 7, 2017 letter, defendants revealed that if plaintiffs and other shareholders did not 
agree to the Hill contract, they would be divested of their shares in Muir IPA.  A month later, 
defendants confirmed that they were “beginning the end” of the Muir IPA.  Around the same 
time, defendants held an improperly noticed shareholder meeting wherein they disclosed a 
summary plan for dissolving Muir IPA. 
 
In late December, 2017, Muir IPA noticed those shareholders who had not agreed to exclusivity 
with Hill that they would be losing their Muir IPA shares through the repurchase clause in their 
agreements, effective January 1, 2018.  Plaintiffs estimate the shares were worth at least 
$200,000 at that time.  But that value could be greater given the loans and other conveyances 
that were never disclosed to plaintiffs.  Despite repeated requests from plaintiffs – including 
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specifically plaintiffs McGlynn, DeLeon, and Smith – defendants never provided Muir IPA 
governing documents or financial information. 
 

c. Confidentiality Issues 
 
Plaintiffs also allege that defendants failed to properly secure confidential data, leading to a data 
breach when a former employee obtained the confidential data prior to her departure.  The 
resulting class action lawsuit, filed in 2018, appears to still be pending, and a potential liability to 
Muir IPA shareholders including plaintiffs.  
 
Next, plaintiff contend that Muir IPA solicited private, confidential information from some 
shareholders, including insurance information, history of adverse actions against shareholder’s 
medical licenses, details about shareholders’ clinic and hospital privileges, etc.  This was to be 
part of a “credentialing packet” given to Hill.  Defendants offered cash payments to those who 
would “opt” to provide the information. At no point did defendants disclose that failing to provide 
this information would result in plaintiffs losing their interest in Muir IPA.  Nor did defendant 
respond to inquiries from plaintiffs – including, e.g., plaintiffs Tzeng and Livermore – about 
providing this information.  Finally, several plaintiffs were each over 65 years old when these 
events happened.  This gives rise to unique elder abuse claims brought by those plaintiffs based 
on the alleged improper divestiture of their shares and the improper request for their personal, 
private credentialing information.  
   

II. Meet-and-Confer 
 
The meet-and-confer declaration from counsel for defendants references an initial conference 
on February 5, a request from plaintiffs’ counsel for the moving papers, and a subsequent 
conference scheduled for February 12.  No further updates were provided.  The Court considers 
the demurrer on its merits, but the proper procedure would have been to make use of the 
automatic 30-day extension, hold the second conference, and work through the issues 
presented here.  (See Code Civ. Roc. § 439, subd. (a)(2).)  Some issues seem based in 
misunderstandings of the pleadings and could have been resolved without Court intervention. 
 

III. Demurrer 
 

a. Corporations Code Section 800 does not apply to this action. 
 
Corporations Code section 800 provides for certain notice requirements prior to an action 
brought “in right” of a corporation – i.e., a derivative action.  “If a corporation fails to pursue 
redress of an injury, a shareholder may file a derivative action on behalf of the corporation. 
The ‘derivative’ action is so called because the rights of the plaintiff shareholders derive from 
the primary corporate right to redress the wrongs against it.”  (Desaigoudar v. Meyercord (2003) 
108 Cal.App.4th 173, 183.)  Whether a claim is direct or derivative turns on who, as between the 
individual and company, suffered the harm and would recover. (Bader v. Anderson (2009) 179 
Cal.App.4th 775, 801 [101 Cal.Rptr.3d 821].)  “Since [section 800] is directed only at actions 
instituted or maintained ‘in the right’ of the corporation it has no application to actions or suits 
seeking directly to enforce personal rights of shareholders.”  (Hogan v. Ingold (1952) 38 Cal.2d 
802, 809.)   
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Defendants contend the notice was ineffective because the complaint provided with the notice 
materially differed from the one ultimately filed.  But plaintiffs seek to vindicate their individual 
rights against the corporation and its directors, not to advance a claim on behalf of the 
corporation.  Their recovery would be individual.  So they never had to send the notice in the 
first place.  The demurrer on this basis is overruled. 
 

b. Stock Agreements 
 

i. The agreements do not limit defendants’ duties. 
 
Defendants argue that their obligations are controlled by the contracts.  They wrongly believe 
that if a duty is not spelled out in those agreements, it does not exist.  But there are two kinds of 
fiduciary duties: those imposed by law and those imposed by contract.  (Maglica v. Maglica 
(1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 442, 447.)  By law, directors and officers are fiduciaries to the corporation 
and its shareholders.  (Corp Code § 309; Small v. Fritz Companies, Inc. (2003) 30 Cal.4th 167, 
179 [“Officers and directors owe a fiduciary duty to stockholders.”].)   So the contracts do not 
circumscribe defendants’ duties.  The demurrer on this basis is overruled. 
 

ii. Demurrer is inappropriate even if plaintiffs’ contract allegations are 
inconsistent with other theories – and here that is at best an open 
question.  

 
Defendants argue that plaintiffs plead themselves out of their case when they claim that the 
agreements are enforceable.  If that were true, then plaintiffs would receive their initial 
investments (which they have already) returning them to their original position.   
 
But granting a demurrer on that basis would be incorrect in two respects. First, a theory of 
contract invalidity is not necessarily inconsistent with a recovery for separate breaches of duties 
arising by law – e.g., fiduciary duties of defendants as directors.   
 
Second, plaintiffs may plead inconsistent theories of recovery so long as they are not otherwise 
facially deficient.  (Silvaco Data Systems v. Intel Corp. (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 210, 238 
[“…California law permits a party to plead factually and legally inconsistent theories in separate 
counts”], disapproved on other grounds in Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 
310, 335; see also Savage v. Marle (1974) 39 Cal.App.3d 241, 245 [negligent conduct and 
willful conduct].)  Drake v. Morris Plan Co. (1975) 53 Cal.App.3d 208, 211, is not inapposite, 
because there the plaintiff pled two alternative contradictory factual allegations about knowledge 
underlying a single negligence claim, not two causes of action based on distinct legal 
conclusions about the operation of a contract.  Here, plaintiffs present a “distinct statement of 
facts claimed … to exist.”  (Id. at 211, emphasis added.)  
 
The demurrer is overruled. 
 

iii. Plaintiffs sufficiently plead entering into at least one of the agreements. 
 
Defendants next claim that it is not clear which plaintiffs signed which agreements.  Exhibit A is 
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a common agreement signed by plaintiff Musco; Exhibit B is a preferred agreement signed by 
plaintiff Livermore.  So, initially, defendants’ argument that no plaintiff executed the preferred 
agreement appears incorrect. (See Defendants’ Memorandum pp. 8-9.)   
 
Plaintiffs allege on information and belief in paragraph 12 that they entered both attached 
agreements.  True, this is presumptively within each plaintiff’s knowledge.  (See Thompson v. 
Sutton (1942) 50 Cal.App.2d 272, 279.)   But Paragraph 118 directly pleads that plaintiffs 
entered into at least one of the agreements.  The agreements are in some cases decades-old, 
and on demurrer, the Court accepts as true the allegation that each plaintiff entered into at least 
one of them.  Moreover, defendants should have records so indicating, since they manage the 
Muir IPA which is paid from member contributions.  Discovery can elucidate the details, as well 
as the existence and effect, if any, of a separate “Limited Stock Agreement” that is not before 
the Court.  The demurrer is overruled.   
 

c. Claims on Information and Belief  
 
Defendants demur to all claims that plaintiffs allege on information and belief.  This is addressed 
in the motion to strike section, infra.  Because resolution of those issues does not dispose of any 
cause of action, the demurrer is overruled. 
  

d. Breach of Contract / Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing. 
 
The analysis above dispenses with the bulk of the attacks on plaintiffs’ breach of contract claim.  
Two points remain.  First, defendants’ contention that plaintiffs do not plead their own 
compliance with the agreements, as required for a breach of contract claim, is simply wrong.  
(See Complaint, ¶¶ 119, 120; see also ¶¶ 16, 17 [funding of Capital Account].)  So too is the 
second remaining issue: that plaintiffs allegedly do not plead damages.  They specifically claim 
that they were underpaid when refunded their initial purchase price, and that the defendants 
took increasing shares of plaintiffs’ business earnings to overfund the Capital Account which 
defendants then used for their own gain or that of, e.g., their relatives.  (Id., ¶¶ 19-22, 43, 45.) 
 
Defendants also attack the cause of action for breach of good faith and fair dealing, but only on 
the basis that the breach of contract claim fails.  Accordingly, the demurrer is overruled as to 
both causes of action.  
 

e. Conversion   
 
Conversion requires a plaintiff’s ownership or right to possession of personal property, 
defendant’s conversion of that property by wrongful act or disposition, and damages.  (Lee v. 
Hanley (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1225, 1240.)  Plaintiffs allege that they owned one share each of Muir 
IPA, that their earning contributions increased the value of those shares, and that they were 
repaid far less than this when “bought out” of their respective shares.  Defendants contend that 
plaintiffs had no property right to the Capital Account and do not allege how defendants 
wrongfully repossessed those shares.  Yet the issue is not the property right to the account but 
to the shares which plaintiffs allege were wrongfully taken and for insufficient payment.  This 
states a claim for conversion.  (See Fremont Indemnity Co. v. Fremont General Corp. (2007) 
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148 Cal.App.4th 97, 121, citing Payne v. Elliot (1880) 54 Cal. 339, 340 [shares of stock 
constitute property belonging to shareholder].)  The demurrer is overruled.  
 

f. Concealment 
 
Civil Code section 1709 creates liability for fraudulent deceit, which includes “3. The 
suppression of a fact, by one who is bound to disclose it, or who gives information of other facts 
which are likely to mislead for want of communication of that fact ….” (Civ. Code § 1710; see 
Lovejoy v. AT&T Corp. (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 85, 95.)  To plead fraud by omission Plaintiff must 
show (1) the concealment or suppression of material fact, (2) a duty to disclose the fact to the 
plaintiff, (3) intentional concealment with intent to defraud, (4) the plaintiff must have been 
unaware of the fact and would not have acted as he did if he had known of the concealed or 
suppressed fact, and (5) resulting damages. (Jones v. ConocoPhillips Co. (2011) 198 
Cal.App.4th 1187, 1198 [internal quotations omitted].)    
 
Defendants argue that they did not have an obligation under the agreements to report or 
disclose information to plaintiffs.  The Court already rejected this in light of the fiduciary 
relationship.   But plaintiffs do not plead facts as to how they would have behaved differently if 
they knew about the status of the Capital Account, the relationship with Hill, or the other 
allegedly concealed facts.  (See Complaint, ¶ 118 [claiming only that plaintiff “reasonably would 
have behaved differently”].)  The demurrer is sustained with leave to amend as to this cause 
of action.  
 

g. Elder Abuse 
 
Several plaintiffs over 65 at the time of the alleged acts bring elder abuse claims.  Defendants 
first raise the already-rejected argument that they have no duty outside of the agreements.  
Next, defendants argue that plaintiffs fail to allege how their property was taken from them.  
(See Welfare & Institutions Code §15610.30, subd. (a).)  Not so.  Plaintiffs incorporate the 
earlier allegations by reference and these describe in detail how their shares were improperly 
valued then taken from them, requests for information went unanswered, and the Capital 
Account was funded with their money and then misdirected for the benefit of defendants.  
(See, e.g., Complaint, ¶¶ 19-20; 41-42; 80; see Welfare & Institutions Code §15610.30, subd. 
(c) [taking of property includes depriving through an agreement].)  The demurrer is overruled.  
 

h. Negligence 
 
Defendants evaluate this claim in a vacuum, as if it did not incorporate the prior paragraphs.  
The fiduciary relationship underlies the duty, and plaintiffs adequately allege breach by self-
dealing and failure to disclose, as well as damages from underpaying them based upon the fair 
value of their shares at the time.  The demurrer is overruled. 
 

i. Business and Professions Code Section 17200 
 
Unfair competition includes “any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice….”  
(Bus.& Prof. Code § 17200, emphasis added.)  The allegedly prohibited act must relate to 
conduct of business or be committed pursuant to business activity.  (See Barquis v. Merchants 
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Collection Assn. (1972) 7 Cal.3d 94, 113.)  But the Court is aware of no law – and defendants 
cite none – barring claims under section 17200 on standing grounds where the parties are 
engaged in the “same business,” such as here where shareholders of a corporation bring 
individual claims against directors.  Rather, standing requires plaintiff to have lost money or 
property as a result of the challenged practice.  (Kwikset, supra, 51 Cal.4th at 322.)  Here, 
plaintiffs adequately allege facts supporting a violation of law and unfair practices relative to the 
management of the Muir IPA, and lost money in the value of their investment.  (See Complaint, 
¶ 138.)  The demurrer is overruled. 
 

j. Unjust Enrichment 
 
Defendants contend that plaintiffs fail to plead receipt and retention of a benefit, since the 
Capital Account still exists.  (See Hirsch v. Bank of America (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 708, 722.)  
But as alleged, that account has been drawn down improperly to the benefit of directors and 
individuals connected to them.  (See, e.g., Complaint, ¶ 21.)  This properly pleads receipt and 
retention of an unjust benefit.  (Id.)  The demurrer is overruled. 
 

k. Injunction and Declaratory Relief 
 
Defendants attack both claims on uncertainty grounds.   
 
The injunction claim necessarily ties into the accounting and constructive trust claims addressed 
below.  A constructive trust, for example, would be ineffectual “if the trustee were permitted to 
defeat recovery by wrongfully permitting the res to be dissipated.”  (Heckmann v. Ahmanson 
(1985) 168 Cal.App.3d 119, 136.)  Similarly, injunctions are proper to prohibit dissipation of 
assets and profits in pending disputes.  (See id.)  In those cases, pecuniary relief is not 
adequate because of the threat that the money will be gone.  Here, plaintiffs allege the 
violations, including dissemination of assets, continue day-to-day.  (Complaint, ¶141, 142.)  
The Court does not opine whether plaintiffs could meet the standards for preliminary or 
permanent injunction, a question not presented here, but merely holds that the facts alleged 
defeat an uncertainty challenge.  
 
With regard to declaratory relief, the Court disagrees that the complaint fails to show a present 
controversy.  Assets appear to be held in the Capital Account.  A controversy exists as to 
plaintiff’s right to shares of that money.  Nor does pleading of an unenforceable contract justify 
demurrer when, in other causes of action, plaintiffs alternatively plead contract-based theories.  
(See discussion supra, Section III(b)(iii).) The Court questions whether a declaration is 
necessary given the claims alleged and remedies otherwise sought, see Code Civ. Proc. §1061 
(court may refuse declaratory relief where unnecessary), but declines to make that 
determination at the demurrer stage.   
 
The demurrers are overruled. 
 

l. Accounting and Constructive Trust 
 
This is an issue the Court would expect the parties to resolve on their own.  Apparently, no one 
disputes that plaintiffs could request an accounting and constructive trust as a remedy, and that 
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is what plaintiff actually wants.  So what difference does it make?  Why is the Court’s 
involvement even needed?   
 
In any event, a cause of action for accounting is appropriate when plaintiffs allege a 
relationship of trust (e.g., director to shareholder) and monies due that can only be determined 
by accounting.  (Teselle v. McLoughlin (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 156, 179.)  Here, plaintiffs allege 
that their shares have a certain value dependent upon the total amount in the Capital Account, 
and that there is no way to ascertain this other than to perform an accounting. The Court 
renders neither an opinion on whether plaintiffs can prove this nor on the factual dispute 
whether the contracts might allow defendants to repay only the original amount invested.  
The only issue is whether this states a claim, and it does. 
 
Likewise, though often referred to as a remedy, a constructive trust cause of action is proper, 
contrary to defendants’ argument.  “A cause of action for constructive trust … consists of fraud, 
breach of fiduciary duty or other act which entitles the plaintiff to some relief. … Pleading 
requirements are: (1) facts constituting the underlying cause of action, and (2) specific 
identifiable property to which defendant has title.” (Michaelian v. State Comp. Ins. Fund (1996) 
50 Cal.App.4th 1093, 1114, emphasis added.)   
 
Accordingly, the demurrer to this cause of action is overruled.  
 

IV. Motion to Strike 
 
Defendants argue that claims on information and belief “cannot survive unless a plaintiff 
provides the information that leads the plaintiff to believe that those allegations are true.”  In that 
it suggests plaintiff must specifically plead all such information, this is an incorrect statement of 
the law.  “Plaintiff may allege on information and belief any matters that are not within his 
personal knowledge, if he has information leading him to believe that the allegations are true.”  
(Pridonoff v. Balokovich (1951) 36 Cal.2d 788, 792; Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 
Cal.4th 531, 551, fn. 5.)  But plaintiffs may also allege on information belief those facts 
about which they lack personal knowledge, and for which they do not presumptively have 
such knowledge.  (See Swars v. Council of Vallejo (1944) 64 Cal.App.2d 858, 864-865, 
emphasis added.) 
 
The case defendants cite – Gomes v. Countrywide Home Loans Inc. (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 
1149, 1158-159 – holds, consistent with these rules, that a plaintiff cannot allege on information 
and belief those facts that he concedes he has no information to support.  Gomes claimed 
California law provided for an action requiring the noteholder’s assignee/nominee in a wrongful 
foreclosure case to prove its authority to initiate the foreclosure.  The Court of Appeal rejected 
non-binding federal case law suggesting otherwise. “Gomes has not asserted any factual basis 
to suspect that MERS lacks authority to proceed with the foreclosure. He simply seeks the right 
to bring a lawsuit to find out whether MERS has such authority. No case law or statute 
authorizes such a speculative suit.”  (Id. at 1156.)  Plaintiff suggested he could amend to state, 
on information and belief, facts bringing his case more in line with the federal authority.  To state 
a claim, Gomes would have to show that the assignments themselves were improperly 
backdated or that the party initiating foreclosure was not the trustee at the time.  (Id. at 1158.)  
But Gomes conceded he could not do this because no assignments were recorded. So he could 
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never allege facts giving rise to a belief supporting his cause of action. (Id. at 1158-1159.)  
 
Here, many of plaintiffs’ claims made on information and belief are not issues presumptively in 
their knowledge, nor are they claims that plaintiffs could never have facts on which to support 
the belief.  And in some cases, defendants attack claims in which plaintiffs do state the basis for 
their belief.  Specifically, the motion is denied as to: 
 

 Paragraphs 17 and 19 concerning defendants taking larger portions of plaintiffs’ earnings 
and kept it in the Capital Account, and distributing $8,000,000 therefrom; 

 Paragraphs 21 and 22 concerning improper use of Capital Account Funds; 

 Paragraphs 25, 33, 34, concerning defendants’ negotiations with Hill and alleged 
financial interests therein;  

 Paragraphs 45 and 97, stating the value of the shares, since paragraph 45 states the 
basis for the allegation (“based upon the financial information” provided in 2017); 

 Paragraph 61, concerning the defendant’s motives for creating the credentialing program 
and failure to secure the confidential information (the latter of which is supported by the 
paragraphs concerning the data breach); 

 Paragraph 113, summarizing allegations from the paragraphs above. 
 
Next, paragraph 12 alleges on information and belief that each plaintiff entered into both of the 
attached agreements.  Paragraph 118 directly pleads each plaintiff entered into at least one of 
them.  Though not a model of clarity in pleading, this is not technically inconsistent nor improper.  
(See discussion, section III(b)(iii), supra.)  Discovery can discern the basis by which each 
plaintiff contends to have entered into one or both of the agreements.  Presumably defendants – 
who manage the IPA – have records that will answer that question.  The motion is denied as to 
this paragraph. 
 
Paragraph 18 alleges that the funding of the Capital Account resulted from increased shares of 
plaintiff’s practice earnings.  It would seem that whether plaintiffs in fact paid a greater share of 
their earnings over time is presumptively within their knowledge.  Alternatively, if alleged only on 
information and belief, plaintiffs must plead facts supporting that belief.  The motion is granted 
with leave to amend on this issue.  It is otherwise denied as to the remainder of the paragraph, 
which contains direct allegations (“Defendants have not disclosed …”) or items properly pled on 
information and belief.  
 
Paragraph 41 alleges on information and belief that Defendants told shareholders they must 
relinquish their practice, cease any relationship with Muir, and join Hill.  The allegations that 
plaintiffs were not informed of contractual and legal basis of the Hill exclusivity, and that some 
doctors who affiliated with Hill would be divested of their Muir IPA share, and that there was no 
Board or shareholder approval, all appear direct.  Further, plaintiffs directly allege that conditions 
were placed on their ability to retain Muir IPA shares, and allege on information and belief those 
items they do not know directly – that Defendants used a plan of nondisclosure, selective 
enforcement, etc., to force plaintiffs into a false choice of abandoning John Muir, relinquishing 
independence, and exclusively committing to Hill.   (Complaint, ¶ 42.)  Then, their shares were 
in fact repurchased.  (Id., ¶ 43.)  So taken in total, the allegation is that plaintiff’s shares were 
repurchased while others’ were not, plaintiffs were not given disclosures they contend were 
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required, and finally, they are informed and believe that this was a part of a plan by defendants 
to wrongfully repossess the shares for less than their fair value.  Such allegations are proper, 
and the motion is denied as to this paragraph.  
 
Paragraphs 48 and 49 concern whether the board was properly constituted and had the power 
to act as it did.  Though there are references to term limits and quorum, plaintiffs do not allege 
the facts supporting the belief that the Board was improperly constituted.  The motion is granted 
with leave to amend these paragraphs accordingly.  
 
Finally, the motions to strike the cause of action for accounting and constructive trust, and the 
17200, injunction, and declaratory relief causes of action for failure to provide proper notice 
under Corporations Code section 800, are each denied for the reasons set forth in the demurrer 
analysis.  
 

V. Plaintiffs’ motion to strike the memorandum in support of demurrer is denied. 
 
Plaintiffs’ motion to strike defendant’s memorandum in support of their demurrer for exceeding 
the page limits is denied.  A memorandum is not a pleading subject to a motion to strike.  (Code 
Civ. Proc. § 435, subd. (a)(2).)  As defendants’ counsel acknowledged the violation in reply, the 
Court will forgive the error this once. 

 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02543 
CASE NAME: DE LEON VS. CENTRAL EAST BAY 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CENTRAL EAST BAY IPA MEDICAL GROUP, INC., et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 15. 
 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00043 
CASE NAME: JIMENEZ VS. POOPAK DOKANCHI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT 
FILED BY POOPAK DOKHANCHIFAR, D.C. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
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18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00043 
CASE NAME: JIMENEZ VS. POOPAK DOKANCHI 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY POOPAK DOKHANCHIFAR, D.C. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

  

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN18-2214 
CASE NAME: MACMASTER VS. TWA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended PETITION 
FILED BY DAVID TWA, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Vacated.  Per Order of Recusal. 

 

  

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-0313 
CASE NAME: RE MATTER OF MIKAYLA FREEMAN 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

21.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-0314 
CASE NAME: RE MATTER OF MILEAHA FREEMAN 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

22.  TIME: 10:30   CASE#: MSC17-01095 
CASE NAME: ANDERSON VS. LEE 
SETTLEMENT CONFERENCE  (SET BY PHONE ON 2/20/19) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   03/28/19 
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ADD-ON 

 

23.  TIME: 9:00   CASE#: MSN19-0523 
CASE NAME: EVANGELISTA VS. SHARMA 
HEARING ON PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Off calendar per Plaintiff’s counsel.  

 

 


